# **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **09-09-2019**

## COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2019AP1209 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

TODD N. TRIEBOLD,

Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from the Circuit Court for Pierce County,

The Honorable Joseph D. Boles, presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT TODD N. TRIEBOLD

Frederick A. Bechtold State bar number 1088631 490 Colby Street Taylors Falls, MN 55084 (651) 465-0463

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

# I.

#### III. Statement of issues presented for review.

This appeal presents the following issues for review:

First, did the State of Wisconsin have territorial jurisdiction to prosecute Triebold for failing to provide notification of his change in residence from one Minnesota address to another Minnesota address?

The circuit court held that the State of Wisconsin had territorial jurisdiction to prosecute Triebold's alleged crime.

Second, was Triebold's prosecution barred by Wisconsin Statutes, section 939.71, after his conviction in Minnesota for a registry violation involving the same change in residence from one Minnesota address to another Minnesota address?

The circuit court held that Triebold's successive prosecution in Wisconsin was not barred by Wisconsin Statutes, section 939.71.

### IV. Statement on oral argument and publication.

The question of whether the State of Wisconsin has territorial jurisdiction to prosecute a citizen of another state for a sex offender registry violation, when his violation consists of a failure to provide the State of Wisconsin with notice of an intra-state change in residence, is an issue that has not previously been addressed by any Wisconsin court. This case also raises an issue concerning whether factually identical violations of Wisconsin and Minnesota sex offender registry laws, are legally identical for purposes of Wisconsin Statutes, section 939.71. This court's decision should be published. And this court would benefit from oral argument.

#### V. Statement of Case and Facts.

#### A. Proceedings below and jurisdiction.

On September 27, 2017, Todd N. Triebold was convicted, after a bench trial, of one count of knowingly failing to comply with sex offender registry notification requirements, in violation of Wisconsin Statutes, section 301.45(6)(a)1. (R.43:1; Appx. 1). On December 4, 2017, the Pierce County Circuit Court, the Honorable Joseph D. Boles presiding, withheld sentence and placed Triebold on probation for two years. *Id.* He now appeals his conviction on the grounds that the State of Wisconsin lacked territorial jurisdiction to prosecute a crime for acts which were committed solely within the State of Minnesota; and further that his conviction violated the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes, section 939.71, which forbids successive prosecution for acts which form the basis of a crime punishable by a statutory provision of this state and the laws of another jurisdiction, unless each provision requires proof of a fact for conviction which the other does not require. He requests that his conviction be vacated, and the case remanded for entry of a Judgment of Acquittal

This is an appeal from a final judgment and sentence of a circuit court in a criminal case. This court has jurisdiction under the Wisconsin Constitution, article VII, section 5; and Wisconsin Statutes, sections 808.03(1) and 809.30. See also, *State v. Scherreiks*, 153 Wis.2d 510, 451 N.W.2d 759 (1989).

#### B. Facts of the case.

On May 5, 1994, Todd N. Triebold was convicted of 2<sup>nd</sup> Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, in violation of Wisconsin Statutes, section 948.02(2). (R.73:25; *See also* CCAP entries for Pierce County Case no. 1993CF27).<sup>1</sup> As a

This court may take judicial notice of facts which are contained on CCAP. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 902.01; *Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp.*, 2013 WI App 32, ¶ 5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522.

consequence of his conviction, Triebold is a lifetime registrant under the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registration law. (R.75:25; *See also*, Wis. Stats §§ 301.45(1g)(a) and (5)(b)1m).

On September 22, 2014, Triebold was charged with knowingly failing to comply with Sex Offender Registry notification requirements, in violation of Wisconsin Statutes, section 301.45(6)(a)1. (R.1 and R.7). A bench trial was held on September 20, 2017. (R.73:1). At the bench trial the following facts were established:

Triebold had been convicted of a registrable offense in 1994, in Pierce County, Wisconsin. (R.73:28). It was further established that, among other things, he was required to provide the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registry with information concerning his place of residence. (R.73:25; see also Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)5). Testimony was presented that he was also required to provide notifications to the Registry within ten days of any change in his residence. (R.73:25; see also Wis. Stat. § 301.45(4)(a)).<sup>2</sup> Because he had a period of incarceration to serve, he was not actually required to provide information to the Registry until he was released from prison in 1999. (R.73:28 See also, Wis. Stats § 301.45(3)(a)2). Triebold apparently refused to sign the initial registration form, however, he was informed at that time about a ten-day notification requirement concerning any changes in his residence. (R.73:38-39 and 45-46; See also, Wis. Stats § 301.45(3)(b) subdivisions 2, 3m, and 4). Triebold also received yearly warnings concerning a ten-day notification requirement in annual confirmation letters from the Registry demanding that he confirm his current address. (73:40 and 44-45 and R.36; See also, Wis. Stats. § 301.45(3)(b)1). Triebold apparently

The statute also requires ten days *prior* notice of changes from a Wisconsin residence to an out-of-state residence, to be given to both the Wisconsin Department of Correction and the appropriate department in the state to which the registrant is moving. Wis. Stats. § 301.45(4m).

received and returned these confirmation letters from 1999, after his release from prison, through August 20, 2013. (R.73:38-39).

At some point prior to 2013, Triebold had moved from the State of Wisconsin to the State of Minnesota.<sup>3</sup> (R.73:30-31). On August 20, 2013, Triebold returned the annual confirmation letter, reporting to the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registry that he was residing 750 Point Douglas Road, St. Paul, Minnesota. (R.73:28 and R.36).

On May 20, 2014, Officer Patrick Daly of the City of St. Paul, Minnesota, Police Department, executed an Internet Crimes Against Children (ICAC) search warrant on a residence located at 259 English Street, St. Paul, Minnesota. (R.73:54). At that residence he found Triebold. (R.73:54). Triebold presented to Officer Daly a Minnesota state identification card which listed his address as being 259 English Street, St. Paul, Minnesota. (R.73:55). The card was issued in March of 2014. *Id.* Officer Daly also observed that Triebold had a bedroom in the residence. (R.73:56). During the execution of the search warrant, a St. Paul police officer assisted Triebold in preparing a notice of address change to the Minnesota Bureau of Criminal Apprehensions (BCA). (73:56-57). Triebold did not send a notification to the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registry informing them of the move to 259 English Street. (73:44).

On June 18, 2014, Sarah Aho, a Department of Corrections Sex Offender Registry program specialist, received a report from Officer Daly that Triebold had moved from his last reported address of 750 Point Douglas Road, St. Paul, Minnesota, to 259 English Street, St. Paul, Minnesota. (R.73:29 and 44-45). Ms.

4

Sarah Aho, the Department of Corrections program specialist who testified at trial, was unable to put a specific date on the move to Minnesota, but confirmed that Triebold had been in Minnesota since at least December of 2012, and possibly for years before that. (R.73:31-33 and R.30:2).

Aho testified that Triebold had gone approximately five months without reporting his change of address. (R.73:53).<sup>4</sup>

On June 17, 2014, prior to Triebold's Wisconsin prosecution, a criminal compliant was filed in the Ramsey County, Minnesota, District Court, Case No. 62-CR-14-4390. That complaint charged Triebold with violation of the Minnesota Predatory Offender Registration Act, Minn. Stat. § 243.166.5(a), for "knowingly fail[ing] to register an address or change of information as required." (R.30:1). The timeframe alleged in the criminal complaint was "on or about the 24th day of December 2013 to the 20th day of May 2014." *Id.* The statement of probable cause attached to the complaint alleged that Triebold was required to register his address with the Minnesota BCA, for the duration of his life, owing to the Pierce County, Wisconsin, conviction for second degree sexual assault of a child. (R.30:2). The statement alleged that Triebold began registering with the BCA on May 5, 1994, and around April 10, 2013, Triebold submitted a change of address with the BCA indicating his address was 750 Point Douglas Road, St. Paul, Minnesota. *Id.* The statement further alleged that on May 20, 2014, law enforcement executed a search warrant at 259 English Street, St. Paul, Minnesota, during which "Sergeant Keller and Officer Daly spoke to Triebold in a noncustodial interview outside of the residence. Triebold said he had been living at 259 English Street since December 24, 2013. He admitted he knew he was supposed to change his address and said it was on his to-do list. Triebold said 750 Point Douglas Road is his mother's address and he said he goes over there sometimes." *Id.* On March 3, 2015, Triebold entered a plea of guilty to the charge. (R.30:12-13). And on April 14, 2015, Triebold was convicted of the charge and sentenced to fourteen months prison with credit of 188 days served. (R.30:8-9).

The probable cause section of the criminal complaint indicates that Triebold reported that he moved from 750 Point Douglas Road to 259 English Street on December 24, 2013. (R.81:4). However, that specific fact was not offered in testimony at the bench trial.

The criminal complaint in this case was filed in Pierce County, Wisconsin, on September 22, 2014. Triebold was charged with knowingly failing to comply with Sex Offender Registry notification requirements, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 301.45(6)(a)1. (R.1:2). The timeframe alleged in this complaint was "on Friday, January 3, 2014," that is, ten days after December 24, 2014. *Id.* The probable cause portion of the criminal complaint alleged that Triebold had violated the requirements of the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registry law by failing to provide notice within ten days of his change in residence from 750 Point Douglas Road, St. Paul, Minnesota, to 259 English Street, St. Paul, Minnesota. (R.1:3-4). Prior to the bench trial, Triebold filed two motions which are relevant to this appeal.

First, Triebold filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. (R.23). Triebold's argument was, in essence, that the State of Wisconsin lacked territorial jurisdiction to prosecute this crime because none of the acts complained of occurred or had consequences within the State of Wisconsin. (R.23:5). Triebold actions, and the consequences thereof, he argued occurred solely within the State of Minnesota. *Id.* Triebold further contested Wisconsin's personal and territorial jurisdiction to require him to continue registering in Wisconsin after he had become a citizen and resident of Minnesota. (R.34:7). Triebold also contested whether Wisconsin's criminal jurisdiction statute, Wis. Stats. § 939.03, covered "omissions" to act while outside the boundaries of the State of Wisconsin. (R.71:37-39).

Second, Triebold filed a motion to dismiss for statutory double jeopardy under Wisconsin Statutes, section 939.71. (R.29). Triebold argued that the crime for which he was convicted in *State of Minnesota v. Todd Neil Triebold*, Ramsey County Case No. 62-CR-14-4390, was identical in law and fact with the crime charged in *State of Wisconsin v. Todd N. Triebold*, Pierce County Case No. 2014CF158. (R.29:4). Triebold argued that:

Both States [had to] prove that the Defendant was a person required to register by proving the fact of the Defendant's prior conviction of Second-Degree Sexual

Assault of the Child in Pierce County. Wisconsin, case 1993 CF 27, and by proving that he was still subject to the registration requirement between the dates of December 24, 2013 and May 20, 2014.

#### (R.29:4). And further:

Both States [had to] prove that the Defendant knowingly violated any of the requirements to register by showing that he had knowledge of the requirement to provide information, as well as by showing that he knew he did not comply with the requirement. In each case, this is shown by Mr. Triebold's alleged statements to law enforcement that he moved to 259 English Street in St. Paul on December 24, 2013; that knew he was supposed to report his new address, and that he knew he had not reported the change of address so as of the date of his contact with law enforcement on May 20, 2014.

(R.29:4-5).

On September 27, 2017, the circuit court, the Honorable Joseph D. Boles presiding, denied both motions in an oral ruling. (R.74; Appx. 2). Regarding the jurisdictional arguments the court wrote, *inter alia*, that:

... the Defense concedes that the purpose of this statute, the sexual registration statute, is to assist law enforcement agencies in investigating and apprehending offenders in order to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the communities and the members of the state. And how do you do that unless you keep track of somebody, and that's what the sexual offender registration is. And that would have no meaning at all if one could simply move out of the state to avoid its application.

And the fact that – that they were in the state when they committed the act, they were in the state when they were convicted of the act, is sufficient, I believe, to meet all the jurisdictional requirements that would require every person, not just Mr. Triebold, but every person that's convicted of an offense required for registration to continue to comply with that when they move out of state.

So it just doesn't make any sense at all to me that a person in Mr. Triebold's shoes could, the day after he's released from custody or the day after he was sentenced, if he wasn't confined, could simply move out of state anywhere in the country, not tell anyone where he lived, and could avoid, legally avoid, the application of Wisconsin law and – and – in terms of keeping track of where he is. It's such a public safety issue that it's clear to me that that was the intent, and that the Court and the State does have jurisdiction over Mr. Triebold, even though he was arguably a Minnesota resident or citizen.

I know it was stated that he was a citizen. I don't know what -- if there's any proof as to what is required for someone to be a citizen of the state of Minnesota, but I don't think citizenship is -- is relevant, it's really residence, and so the Court had jurisdiction to require Mr. Triebold to comply with the

Wisconsin registration law even though he moved to Minnesota. And he knew it, I guess, and that's really the key thing; we'll get to that a little bit later.

So I deny the motion to dismiss based on lack of jurisdiction. ... I do believe that the Court and the State of Wisconsin has jurisdiction over Mr. Triebold, frankly, for the rest of his life. He can't avoid it by moving.

(R.74:8-9; Appx. 9-10). With regard to the double jeopardy claim, the circuit court wrote, *inter alia*:

-it really involves two separate offenses, and -- and that's the nature of the double jeopardy claim, is that it has to be a prosecution for the same offense and -- which would result in multiple punishments for the same offense, and this is strictly not -- just not the same offense.

The Wisconsin offense, the State of Wisconsin requires Mr. Triebold to register with the State of Wisconsin and it sets out certain requirements that he must follow. Those requirements aren't the same as the ones in Minnesota. They aren't the same in terms of when he has to do things or how he has to do things or where he has to do things. In other words, just as far as the reporting his residence, he has to report that, under Wisconsin law, to State Department of Corrections, get a letter, they tell you where you have to send information, where to contact them and to provide that information.

Same with Minnesota, I have to think, that they also -- they don't require that you report your change of address to Wisconsin, so you have to report to the whatever, Bureau of Criminal Apprehension or the State of Minnesota Department of Corrections, whatever it is, you have to report that to Minnesota, and there is not – they are not the same offenses.

In other words, these are two separate crimes that - that are alleged, and he's been convicted of the one in Minnesota. Totally separate crime here that's being charged because it's different facts have to -- that need to be proven in each case.

Notice requirements exist regarding Minnesota's registration obligations and Wisconsin's. There was not evidence of record; although, Wisconsin -- or Minnesota statutes, I'm sure, set that forth, but Wisconsin's statutes are different, at least in somewhat.

So because they're separate and require providing information to two separate, distinct law enforcement entities in each state, that they're different legal requirements in terms of providing proof and different facts, that these are two separate offenses, and so the double jeopardy argument also fails.

(R.74:10-11; Appx. 11-12). The circuit court then found Triebold guilty of the crime of knowingly failing to comply with sex offender registry notification requirements, in violation of Wisconsin Statutes, section 301.45(6)(a)1. (R.74:15; Appx. 16). This appeal follows upon Triebold's conviction.

#### VI. Argument.

A. The State of Wisconsin lacked territorial jurisdiction to prosecute Triebold for failing to provide notification of his intra-state change in residency from one Minnesota address to another Minnesota address.

#### 1. Standard of Review.

Whether a court has jurisdiction presents an issue of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Randle*, 2002 WI App 116, ¶ 18, 252 Wis. 2d 743, 647 N.W.2d 324, *citing State v. Webster*, 196 Wis. 2d 308, 316, 538 N.W.2d 810 (Ct.App.1995). "It is elementary that a court may act only upon crimes committed within the territorial jurisdiction of the sovereignty seeking to try the offense." *Id. citing Hotzel v. Simmons*, 258 Wis. 234, 240, 45 N.W.2d 683 (1951). Without jurisdiction, criminal proceedings "are a nullity." *Id*.

2. The registry requirements for sex offenders who reside in another state are controlled by the Federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act, 34 U.S.C.A. § 20901 *et. seq.*, which does not require dual notifications for intra-state changes in residency.

The State of Wisconsin has taken the position that it can require sex offenders who reside outside the State of Wisconsin, to make continuing direct notifications to the Wisconsin Sex Offender Registry, even though the offender has ceased to have any contacts with the State of Wisconsin. This is in error. The notification requirements for sex offenders who relocate from one state to another state are controlled by the Federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act, 34 U.S.C.A. § 20901 et. seq., which does not require dual notifications for intrastate changes in residence.

The Federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act, 34 U.S.C.A. § 20901 et. seq.<sup>5</sup> was enacted by Congress for the purpose of "protect[ing] the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> formerly cited as 42 U.S.C.A. § 16901, enacted July 27, 2006 (Pub.L. 109-248, Title I, § 102).

public from sex offenders and offenders against children" by "establish[ing] a comprehensive national system for the registration of those offenders." 34 U.S.C.A. § 20901. The Act requires that "[e]ach jurisdiction shall maintain a jurisdiction-wide sex offender registry conforming to the requirements of this subchapter." 34 U.S.C.A. § 20912(a).

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