Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 1 of 34

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-08-2019**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP1209-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TODD N. TRIEBOLD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN PIERCE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH D. BOLES, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The elements of the Minnesota offense are: (1) The defendant is a person required to register as a "predatory offender" in that (pertinent here) he has been convicted of a sex offense in another state; (2) The defendant knowingly violated the requirement to register his change of address at least five days before he started living at a "new primary

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 25 of 34

address," Minn. Stat. § 343.166 subd. 3(b); (3) The time period during which the defendant was required to register had not elapsed; (4) The defendant's failure to act took place in a specific Minnesota county (here Ramsey County). (R. 31:1.)

Triebold also violated Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a)5., (4m), and (6)(a)1. The elements of the Wisconsin offense are: (1) The defendant was a person required to provide information under Wis. Stat. 301.45(1g) in that (pertinent here) he was convicted of a "sex offense" in Wisconsin after December 25, 1993, Wis. JI–Criminal 2198 cmt. 3 n.1 (2013); (2) The defendant failed to provide information regarding a change of address as required by Wis. Stat. § 301.45(4), Wis. JI–Criminal 2198 cmt. 2 (2013); (3) The defendant knowingly failed to provide the required information. Wis. JI–Criminal 2198 (2013).

Triebold did not notify either Minnesota or Wisconsin authorities about his change of address from one residence to another in St. Paul. Triebold's failure to report the change violated Wis. Stat. § 301.45 because he had been convicted of a "sex offense" in Wisconsin in 1994 and he was required to register for the rest of his life no matter where he resided. Triebold's failure to report the change also violated the Minnesota law because he was a Minnesota resident and a "predatory offender" by virtue of his out-of-state conviction for a sex crime.

The Minnesota and Wisconsin statutes are thus different in law because each requires proof of a fact that the other does not require. In other words, each statute has at least one element that the other does not have. Obviously, a Minnesota resident could violate the Minnesota reporting statute without having been convicted of a sex offense *in Wisconsin*. One could violate the Wisconsin reporting statute without ever having been a Minnesota resident. A Wisconsin sex offender residing in Minnesota could violate the Minnesota statute by not reporting the change of address there, but fully comply with the Wisconsin statute by

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 26 of 34

reporting the change to Wisconsin authorities, and vice versa. A Wisconsin sex offender living in Wisconsin, obviously, does not have to report a change of address in Wisconsin to the Minnesota Bureau of Criminal Apprehension. A "predatory offender" living in Minnesota, who committed a sex crime in Minnesota or in any state other than Wisconsin, does not have to report his change of address in St. Paul to the Wisconsin Department of Corrections. A Wisconsin sex offender living in Minnesota would violate the Wisconsin law but comply with the Minnesota law if he waited until five days before the change of address to report it to both agencies. There are, therefore, many scenarios whereby Triebold, or someone in the same position, could comply with the Minnesota reporting statute but not the Wisconsin statute, and vice versa. The elements are substantially different, and the facts needed to prove those elements can often be materially different.

For similar reasons, Triebold's two reporting offenses are different in fact. Two offenses are different in fact if "each count requires proof of an additional fact that the other count does not." *State v. Anderson*, 219 Wis. 2d 739, 750, 580 N.W.2d 329 (1998). Each of Triebold's convictions for failure to report required proof of a different fact. He committed a Minnesota offense by failing to report his address change to the Minnesota Bureau of Criminal Apprehension. And he committed a Wisconsin offense by failing to report his address change to the Wisconsin Department of Corrections.

The legal and factual differences between these statutes are not mere technicalities. Those differences are real and are reflected in several significantly different interests protected by each. Once a person has been convicted of a sex offense in Wisconsin, the State of Wisconsin has a compelling interest in keeping track of that person for the rest of his life, not only for the protection of its own citizens should he ever return to this State temporarily or permanently, but also to notify any other state where the convicted sex offender

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 27 of 34

chooses to take up temporary or permanent residence. The State of Minnesota has an equally compelling interest in keeping track of anyone convicted of a sex offense in another state who chooses to take up temporary or permanent residence in Minnesota.

Wisconsin has a compelling interest in keeping track of its sex offenders even after they move out of state because it gives the victim of his sex crime peace of mind in knowing where he is living and it may "induce precautionary measures if the victim discovers that the offender, although no longer a Wisconsin resident, lives just across the Wisconsin border, in Michigan, Illinois, Iowa, or Minnesota." *Mueller*, 740 F.3d at 1132 (summarizing the State's argument). Triebold's failure to report his change of address in St. Paul to either Minnesota or Wisconsin authorities violated those separate and distinct compelling state interests protected by each state's mandatory reporting law.

It is plain that the Wisconsin Legislature intended in Wis. Stat. § 301.45 to permit separate prosecutions in this state and in the state where the offender currently resides should he fail to report his change of address because it could have easily provided otherwise. For example, the Legislature has abrogated the dual sovereignty doctrine in drug cases. See Swinson, 261 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶ 49, 54–55 (discussing Wis. Stat. § 961.45, which bars a drug prosecution in Wisconsin after a conviction or acquittal "for the same act" under a comparable federal law or law of another state). Wisconsin Stat. § 961.45 represents "the type of legislation instituted by our legislature seeking to preclude continuing prosecution in the drug arena as is otherwise permitted under the doctrine of dual sovereignty." Id. ¶ 55 (emphasis added). "[I]n deciding not to abrogate the dual sovereignty doctrine in nondrug cases, the legislature could have rationally considered that in the nondrug arena, the interests of the state and federal governments are different." Id.; see also Smith, 323 Wis. 2d

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 28 of 34

377, ¶ 23 ("The legislature was well aware of its ability to carve out exceptions to the registration requirement."). Certainly, the Wisconsin legislature could have written a suspension provision into its reporting provision for someone who moves out of state as Minnesota has done if it so desired. Minn. Stat. § 243.166 subd. 3(b).

Whether considered under the dual sovereignty doctrine, or the *Blockburger* test as codified by Wis. Stat. § 939.71, the Minnesota and Wisconsin offenses are not the same offense in law or in fact. Wisconsin law allows for the prosecution of Triebold under Wis. Stat. § 301.45 even after Minnesota prosecuted him under its mandatory reporting statute.

III. Triebold forfeited his argument that liability under Wis. Stat. § 301.45 is preempted by federal law.

Triebold argues for the first time in this Court that liability under Wis. Stat. § 301.45 is preempted by the federal sex offender registry act. (Triebold's Br. 9–12.) Triebold forfeited this argument by not raising it in the trial court.

A. Triebold did not specifically argue that Wis. Stat. § 301.45 was preempted by federal law.

Failure to specifically object in the trial court generally precludes appellate review of a claimed error, even an error of constitutional dimension. *E.g.*, *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶ 10–11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727; *State v. Davis*, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 517–19, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996); *State v. Edelburg*, 129 Wis. 2d 394, 400–01, 384 N.W.2d 724 (Ct. App. 1986); *see also State v. Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶¶ 56–66, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 (the claimed denial of the structural public trial right at voir dire was forfeited by failure to timely object).

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 29 of 34

To properly preserve an objection for review, Triebold had to "articulate the specific grounds for the objection unless its basis is obvious from its context. . . . so that both parties and courts have notice of the disputed issues as well as a fair opportunity to prepare and address them in a way that most efficiently uses judicial resources." *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 172–73, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999) (citations omitted).

Triebold's federal preemption argument was not obvious from the context of the arguments he presented to the trial court. Triebold only argued in the trial court that his prosecution violated the double jeopardy clause and that the Pierce County Circuit Court lacked territorial jurisdiction over him. (R. 29; 34.) He did not separately argue that liability under Wis. Stat. § 301.45 is preempted by federal law even assuming Wisconsin has jurisdiction and that there is no double jeopardy violation.

Triebold mislabels his new federal preemption argument as presenting a claim of a lack of "territorial jurisdiction." (Triebold's Br. 12.) It is not. As discussed above, Wisconsin courts had subject matter and territorial jurisdiction over any alleged violation of Wis. Stat. § 301.45, and they obtained personal jurisdiction over Triebold when he appeared in Pierce County circuit court and answered to the charge.

Triebold's new argument also does not account for the impact of the dual sovereignty doctrine with regard not only to Wisconsin jurisdiction vis a vis that of Minnesota, but also to Wisconsin jurisdiction vis a vis that of the federal courts.

This Court should not, therefore, consider the merits of Triebold's preemption claim. But if it does, the claim plainly lacks merit.

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 30 of 34

B. Congress did not intend to preempt the even stricter reporting requirements of Wis. Stat. § 301.45.

"Courts presume that state law is not preempted unless preemption was the 'clear and manifest purpose of Congress." *Milwaukee City Hous. Auth. v. Cobb*, 2015 WI 27, ¶ 13, 361 Wis. 2d 359, 860 N.W.2d 267 (citation omitted). Here, it was not the clear and manifest purpose of Congress to preempt Wisconsin from requiring in Wis. Stat. § 301.45 that its convicted sex offenders continue reporting their whereabouts even after they move out of state.

Congress' enactment of the federal sex offender registry law could reasonably be viewed as setting minimal floor requirements that states must follow, but without prohibiting any state from enacting stricter registry and reporting requirements for its own convicted sex offenders. The penalty provision in the federal statute is, after all, a floor below which no state may go, but it does not prohibit a state from imposing greater penalties for noncompliance with its own registry reporting requirements. 34 U.S.C. § 20913(e).

At minimum, then, the sex offender must initially register in the jurisdiction where he was convicted, and the state of conviction is not required by federal law to do anything else once the person moves to another jurisdiction because he is now required to register with the new jurisdiction. 34 U.S.C. § 20913(a). Nothing in that federal provision, however, prohibits the state in which the offender was initially convicted from requiring that he continue to report any changes in status to its authorities even though federal law only requires registration in the state of his new residence. The federal statute's requirement that the offender report his change of address to "at least" one of the two jurisdictions affected sets only a floor that would not prevent the jurisdiction where the sex offender was initially convicted

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 31 of 34

to also keep tabs on him by requiring him to continue to report any changes in status even after he moves to another state.

For example, 34 U.S.C. § 20913(c) provides that a sex offender "shall, not later than 3 business days after" he changes residence, "appear in person in at least 1 jurisdiction involved" to report his change of residence. Taken to its logical extent, Triebold's preemption argument would prohibit Wisconsin from requiring the sex offender to report his change of address at least *ten days before* he moves, and it would prohibit Minnesota from requiring the resident sex offender to report his change of address at least *five days before* he moves; both states, according to Triebold, are preempted by federal law from requiring the offender to register any earlier than *three days after* he moves.

Moreover, the federal sex offender registry law defines what must be proven to establish *federal* criminal liability. 18 U.S.C. § 2250(a). It does not foreclose liability under similar state statutes. Or, at least, Triebold fails to adequately show how or explain why Congress intended to occupy the field and proscribe criminal liability under even stricter state mandatory reporting statutes.

The purpose of the federal statute is not served by restricting the power of individual states to enact even stricter reporting requirements.

The new federal Act reflects Congress' awareness that pre-Act registration law consisted of of federal patchwork and 50 individual state registration systems. See 73 Fed.Reg. 38045 (2008). The Act seeks to make those systems more uniform and effective. It does so by repealing several earlier federal laws that also (but less effectively) sought uniformity; by setting forth comprehensive registration-system standards; making federal funding contingent on States' bringing their systems into compliance with those standards: by requiring both state and federal sex offenders to register with relevant Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 32 of 34

jurisdictions (and to keep registration information current); and by creating federal criminal sanctions applicable to those who violate the Act's registration requirements.

Reynolds v. United States, 565 U.S. 432, 435 (2012).

Wisconsin and most other states enacted sex offender registry statutes like Wis. Stat. § 301.45 after being "prompted by congressional legislation, adopted in the 1990s, which conditions certain federal grants-in-aid on a state's enactment of conforming sex offender registration laws." In re Alva, 92 P.3d 311, 313 (Cal. 2004). "Federal funding was conditioned on the states enacting such legislation." Smith, 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶ 20. Prohibiting Wisconsin from making it even easier than federal law requires to track the movement of a convicted sex offender runs headlong into the purpose of the federal statute to effectively keep tabs on convicted sex offenders as they move about the country. This is not what Congress intended when it required, at a minimum, that the sex offender register initially in Wisconsin where he was convicted and thereafter in "at least" the state where he takes up residence.

The federal law did not expressly or implicitly preempt the authority of states to enact even stricter registration standards. Bostic v. D.C. Hous. Auth., 162 A.3d 170, 173 (D.C. 2017). Congress did not expressly prohibit the states from enacting stricter reporting requirements, compliance with both the federal and state statutes is not impossible, and there is no indication that Congress intended to occupy the field in this area leaving "no room for the States to supplement it." Id.; c.f. State v. John, 308 P.3d 1208, 1211 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2013) (Arizona lacked jurisdiction to require Indian tribal members living on a reservation to comply with Arizona's sex offender registry statute because it was the federal preempted by registry statute "unambiguously dictates the circumstances under which the state may impose registration requirements upon tribal

Case 2019AP001209 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-08-2019 Page 33 of 34

members on tribal land"; circumstances that were not present when Arizona imposed its law on tribal members).

In the end, however, resolution of those thorny questions should await another day when they are properly raised and litigated first in the trial court.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction.